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STRATEGIC PLAN 2010-2013
Purpose
The voice of the legal profession in Western Australia.

Vision
To be the representative body for the legal profession in Western Australia.

Key Result Areas
Key Result Area 1: High value 
membership
Key Result Area 2: Leaders in Continuing 
Professional Development
Key Result Area 3: Voice of the legal 
profession in Western Australia
Key Result Area 4: Promoting access to 
Justice
Key Result Area 5: Best practice 
professional association

Our Strategy
The Strategic Plan will guide the activities of the Society over the next three years.  This Plan 
has been developed to provide a framework to take the Society into the future.  It sets an exciting 
direction for the future of the Society and all those associated with it – members, staff and the legal 
profession as a whole.  The Society will achieve its purpose and vision and deliver on the objectives 
of the strategy by ensuring we understand and respond to:

• Maximise membership across the profession
• Maintain a strong identity and reputation
• Contribute to the enhancement of the professional knowledge and skills of the legal profession
• Represent the interests of the WA legal profession and maintain recognition as a credible and 

independent commentator and source of information on legal and public policy issues
• Promote access to justice
• Enhance the image of the profession
• Maximise efficiency, effectiveness and service quality
• Ensure organisational capability, and
• Ensure appropriate administration, investment, management and governance of Law Mutual.

Key Product Areas and Services 
Our key products and services will at all times be aligned to, and complement our Key Result 
Areas. 
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SNAPSHOT OF ACHIEVEMENTS
The Law Society of Western Australia has 
successfully achieved numerous targets 
throughout the 2009/2010 financial year. Below 
you will find some of the key achievements by 
the numbers. 

19 – Executive 
Meetings with key 
stakeholders

21 – Graduates placed by the Society’s Articled 
Clerk Clearing House

26 – Graduates of the Legal Assistant’s 
Training Course

28 – Membership visits to law firms

41 – Solicitors and Barristers with Family Law 
Accreditation as at 30 June 2010 

43 – Firms accredited with the Quality Practice 
Standard as at 30 June 2010 

45+ – Submissions made

48 – Participants in the 2009 YLC Advocacy 
Weekend (36 young lawyers, 12 teachers)

50 – Pro bono applications assessed by 
Access to Justice Committee 

55 – Society CPD 
learning events held 

132 – Firms 
responding to the 
Salary Survey
 

301 – Committee meetings

350+ – Firms registered on the Legal Referral 
Database

 
3,186 – Members of the public who visited 
the Old Court House Law 
Museum  

6,010 – Student and 
teacher visitors to 
the Francis Burt Law 
Education Centre 
(FBLEC)

3,117 
Members of the 

Society

45 

Committees 
of the Society

3,695
Registrants at 
Society CPD 

learning events

470 
Members 
serving on 

Society 
committees

33 
Schools 

participating 
in the 2010 
Mock Trials 
Competition 
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COUNCIL 2009
Executive

Dudley Stow
President

Hylton Quail
Senior Vice President

Simon Watters
Vice President

Judith Fordham
Treasurer

Ordinary Members
Judith Fordham
Pamela Hass
Dr Christopher Kendall
Greg McIntyre SC
Denis McLeod
Rhonda Parks
Steven Penglis
John Prior
Michelle Quigley
Shane Sirett
Craig Slater
John Staude

Country Member
Carmel McKenzie

Junior Members
Haley Allan
Jeremy Sher

Articled Clerk Representative
Gabrielle Clarke

Immediate Past President
Maria Saraceni
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COUNCIL 2010
Executive

Hylton Quail
President

Simon Watters
Senior Vice President

Dr Christopher Kendall
Vice President

Craig Slater
Treasurer

Ordinary Members
Simon Creek
Konrad De Kerloy 
Judith Fordham 
Graham Goerke 
Pamela Hass 
Belinda Lonsdale 
Greg McIntyre SC 
Denis McLeod 
Steven Penglis 
John Prior 
Shane Sirrett 
Craig Slater

Country Member
Carmel McKenzie

Junior Members
Dr Eric Heenan 
Matthew Keogh 
Elaine Wambeck

Immediate Past President
Dudley Stow



7The Law Society of Western Australia - Annual Report 2009/2010

PRESIDENT’S REPORT
I am pleased to 
provide this report 
to members. The 
past financial year 
presented many 
challenges for the 
Society, not least 
because of the 
effects of the GFC.  
Unlike most other 
law societies around 
the country, we are a 
completely voluntary membership organisation.  
I am very pleased that you, our members, have 
not only continued to support us through trying 
economic times but enabled us to grow.

Professional Development
The Society has been very active in all areas 
of our operations over the last year.  We have 
approved and are now implementing a new CPD 
business plan which will see us continue to deliver 
high quality, cost competitive and relevant CPD 
to members in more varied formats. In future we 
hope to be quicker to market with seminars on 
changes in the law and more responsive to your 
needs.  Law Summer School was very successful 
in 2010, selling out months in advance.   It is the 
premier event in the State’s CPD calendar and 
the top shelf speakers were well received.

Insurance and Risk Management
Through Law Mutual, insurance costs for 
practitioners have decreased and we are 
looking carefully at implementing even better 
risk management.  We have also established ad 
hoc committees which have been looking closely 
at how the Society can better address anxiety, 
depression and bullying in the profession.  I 
expect that later this year we will be able to report 
to members about new measures and improved 
programs the Society will be implementing to 
address these issues.

Law Reform
The Society has been very active in law reform; 
our committees having done a sterling job this 
year.  More than 45 substantive submissions were 
made to government and other organisations, 
many of which are published on our website.  
Many members volunteered days of their time 
to ensure that comprehensive submissions were 
completed on as broad a range of subjects as:
• New Costs Scales in Criminal Proceedings in 

the Supreme and District Courts 
• Settlement Agents Undertaking Legal Work
• Jury Reform 
• Legal Services Award Modernisation
• The Inquiry into Western Australian Strata 

Managers
• Criminal Investigation Amendment Bill 2009 

(Stop, Search and Seizure)
• Statutory Review of the Sentencing Act 1995
• Road Traffic Amendment Bill 2010 (Hoon 

Legislation)
•	 Acts Amendment (Consent to Medical 

Treatment) Act 2008

A more detailed overview can be found in the 
Convenor’s reports and Submissions section 
later in this publication.

Media
The Society has an important public role to play 
in defending the rule of law and separation of 
powers and, on occasion, moderating criticism 
of courts which is often based on a lack of 
understanding of our legal system, appeals 
processes and the nature of judicial decision 
making.  I regard the Society’s media activities 
and our present focus on public education and 
explanation of the law through the media as a 
vital part of what we do and what we will continue 
to do.  

Consequently the public profile of the Society has 
grown substantially over the last year, particularly 
as we have taken a leading role in the public 
debate on a number of ‘law and order’ issues.  
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These include opposing increased stop and 
search powers for police, prohibited behaviour 
orders and naming and shaming of children and 
continuing to oppose mandatory sentencing and 
unacceptably high juvenile detention rates.  We 
have also promoted sentencing reform, juries 
being more representative and reconsideration 
of criminal property confiscation laws.  

Wig Commemorative Photo
Following the announcement by the Hon Wayne 
Martin, Chief Justice of Western Australia, 
on 1 January 2010 that wigs would no longer 
be worn in WA courts, the Society decided to 
commemorate the passing of this tradition by 
arranging the production of a large scale group 
photo of practitioners in their full regalia in front 
of the Supreme Court. This ‘last hurrah’ for wigs 
took place on 8 March 2010 and involved 200 
members of the profession, including most of the 
Judges of the District Court. 

Aboriginal Lawyers Committee
One of the major highlights of the year for me 
was the establishment of the Aboriginal Lawyers 
Committee. I had the good fortune to encounter 
a group of extremely motivated and proactive 
Aboriginal practitioners who were keen to work 
with the Society. The purpose of the Committee 
is to support Aboriginal lawyers, graduates and 
law students in their professional development.  
Through the Society the Committee hopes to 
communicate with the legal profession and the 
broader community on issues of importance 
to Aboriginal people. I urge any Aboriginal 
members of the Society to actively engage with 
this Committee, whose long term goal is also to 
establish an Aboriginal Lawyers Association. 

Legal Aid
The Society has been actively engaged in the 
Law Council of Australia’s Legal Aid Matters 
campaign. The objective of the campaign is to 
persuade the Federal Government to guarantee 
an adequately funded legal aid system, ensuring 

a cooperative, nationally consistent and fair 
approach to the provision of legal aid and access 
to justice for all. Perhaps as a consequence of 
the campaign, WA has seen some increase in 
federal Legal Aid funding in the last few months 
but nowhere near what we believe is required to 
restore Legal Aid funding to 1997 service levels.

The Society, in conjunction with the Law Council 
and other law societies, will continue to lobby both 
State and Federal Governments for increased 
legal aid funding. 

National Legal Professional Reform
Since early 2009, the Society has been part of 
the consultation process for the National Legal 
Profession Reform (NLPR) Project that has 
been initiated by the Federal Government in 
order to further harmonise the legal profession 
across Australia. This initiative has been driven 
by the Standing Committee of Attorneys General 
(SCAG) following direction by the Council of 
Australian Governments (COAG). There is 
significant impetus from the Federal Department 
of the Attorney General to see this project 
through. The Society adopted a policy position on 
the proposed National Regulatory Framework in 
November 2009 and this has guided our position 
on national reform to date.

Throughout this project, Society Immediate 
Past President Dudley Stow has been a 
member of the consultative group that provides 
recommendations and feedback to the NLPR 
Taskforce. Dudley is one of only two WA 
representatives in the consultation group and 
is a strong advocate for the protection of WA 
practitioners’ rights in a nationalised system.  
Both Dudley and I have travelled east on many 
occasions over the past year to lobby for the WA 
position on national reform. 

I’m pleased to report that our pleas have not 
fallen on deaf ears and following lengthy and 
at times vigorous debate between all Societies 
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and Bars across the country, we were able 
through the Law Council of Australia to achieve 
an almost unanimous position in relation to 
the NLPR package. Having been critical of 
Law Council’s processes and approach to the 
NLPR Taskforce in the past, I have to say that 
I was very impressed by the work that the staff 
of the Council put into preparation of our joint 
submission.  The willingness of all societies and 
bars to put aside small differences so that we 
could unite with one voice in our opposition to 
fundamental flaws in the proposed national law 
was a substantial achievement.

Law Council’s submission is on the Society’s 
website along with a short supplementary 
submission of our own which was sent 
separately to the Taskforce identifying the three 
areas where we were unable to agree with Law 
Council. These were in relation to proposed 
compliance audits and management directions, 
client understanding of cost agreements and 
arms length fidelity fund decision making.  We 
also have some insurance-related concerns 
which we are currently addressing.

So far there has been no public indication from the 
Taskforce that they are prepared to concede our 
fundamental objections relating to independence 
of the profession and powers of the proposed 
ombudsman.  Of more concern, although the 
consultation process has ended, we are yet to 
see any proper costing of the proposed reforms, 
despite repeated requests over the last year.

Importantly, the State Government have 
substantially endorsed our fundamental 
objections and also indicated they will not enact 
template legislation, which is the preferred 
Taskforce model.

In Conclusion
I wish to thank the Society’s Council and my 
Executive for their ongoing commitment to the 
Society’s development and administration. 
Those on the Council, particularly the Executive, 
attend numerous meetings throughout the year 
and give an enormous amount of their time and 
knowledge for the benefit of the profession. 

I would also like to particularly thank Dudley 
Stow who was President for the first half of this 
reporting period.  Dudley served as President 
for two one-year terms.  This was an enormous 
commitment from Dudley as the demands of 
President are significant and varied.  Dudley 
continues to work for members by chairing the 
Professional Indemnity Insurance Management 
Committee.

I must also acknowledge the hard work and 
dedication of Society Executive Director David 
Price, who provides the stable leadership role 
across the organisation that myself and Council 
have come to rely on.

Thanks also go to Society staff members, 
who without exception have performed in an 
exemplary fashion over the last year.  Many 
members have paid compliments to the high 
levels of service they have been getting from the 
staff of the Society.

I look forward to serving members for the balance 
of my time in office.  We will continue to represent 
and advocate for the WA legal profession at 
every opportunity. I thank all members for their 
continued support of the Law Society of Western 
Australia. 

Hylton Quail
President 
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT
The Law Society of 
Western Australia has 
continued to work hard 
over the past 12 months 
to be the representative 
body for the legal 
profession in Western 
Australia through the 
provision of high value 
membership, delivering 
a leading professional 
development program, 
being the voice of the 
legal profession in Western Australia, promoting 
access to justice and striving to be a best practice 
professional association.

Hylton Quail was elected as President for 2010, 
replacing Dudley Stow.  Simon Watters and Dr 
Chris Kendall were elected as the Vice Presidents 
for 2010. Craig Slater was elected by Council as 
Treasurer in February 2010.  

I reported in last year’s annual report that the 
Society reached a record membership number 
of 3,120 fully paid members. I am very pleased 
to report that this year, in what was a period 
of financial uncertainty around the world, the 
Society fell just four members short of achieving 
another record membership number for fully paid 
members in 2009/2010 by reaching 3,117. This 
positive result reflects an increased satisfaction 
by our members with the Society over the last 
two years as confirmed by our 2009 Membership 
survey which showed an increase in satisfaction 
with the Society from 58% in 2007 to 70% in 
2009.

A new 2010-2013 Strategic Plan was adopted 
by Council in May 2010. The new Strategic Plan 
will continue to guide the activities of the Society 
over the next three years.  This Plan has been 
developed to provide a framework to take the 
Society into the future.  It builds on the already 
exciting direction the Society is taking for all 

those associated with it – members, staff and the 
legal profession as a whole. 
 
I am pleased to report that this financial year 
the Society delivered 114.5 hrs of continuing 
professional development compared to 106 
hrs in 2008/2009.  A new two year Continuing 
Professional Development (CPD) business plan 
was adopted by Council in May 2010.  The new 
plan aims to further improve the Society’s CPD 
offering to the legal profession by broadening 
our program to better meet the needs of legal 
practitioners.  As part of our CPD program in 
2009/2010 the Society again in partnership with 
the University of Western Australia ran the very 
successful one day Law Summer School which 
was attended by 250 people.

The Society has been active in its role as “the 
voice of the legal profession in Western Australia” 
in many ways over the last 12 months.  We have 
spoken out in the media, our committees have 
worked tirelessly in responding to issues and 
requests to review and comment on matters 
affecting the law both at a local level and at a 
national level via Law Council of Australia, 
the Executive of the Society has met with key 
stakeholders on behalf of the profession and 
as mentioned we continue to work closely with 
the Law Council of Australia on national and 
international issues and in particular the National 
Legal Profession Reform Project. 

The Society has and will continue to advocate 
on behalf of the interests of the Legal Profession 
in Western Australia on the National Legal 
Profession Reform Project in line with our adopted 
a policy position.  We are continuing to work 
through this very large and complex proposal via 
the Law Council of Australia, the Conference of 
Law Societies and the Consultation Committee 
to the Taskforce set up by the Federal Attorney 
General, of which the Immediate Past President 
Dudley Stow is an active Council appointed 
member.  
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Our Committee membership was reviewed this 
year and it was pleasing to see a strong interest 
from members wanting to remain or become 
involved with the Society through our Committees. 
This year the Society also established a new 
Aboriginal Lawyers Committee. Through the 
hard work of our Committees’ 45+ submissions 
were prepared compared to 32 in 2008/2009.

I would also like to acknowledge and congratulate 
the Hon Justice Ken Martin and Elizabeth 
Heenan who were awarded Life Membership of 
the Society this year.

Law Mutual
The Professional Indemnity Insurance 
Management Committee was established under 
the Legal Profession Act 2008 in 2009/2010.  The 
Committee comprises seven members, of which 
four are members of the Society Council, and  
has been meeting regularly since its inception in 
September 2009.

The Law Mutual 2010/2011 admin fee was not 
increased and there was a general reduction in 
premiums of 11.5%. This equates to a reduction 
from 2009/2010 of $5,474 to $4,842 in 2010/2011 
for a Partner/Director. 

Thank You
I would like record my sincere thanks and 
appreciation to Immediate Past President, 
Dudley Stow and his Executive team in 2009 and 
current President Hylton Quail and his Executive 
team for their unquestionable commitment to the 
Society, its members and our staff.  

I would also like to also thank the Society Councils 
of 2009 and 2010 and our many committee 
members who volunteer countless hours of their 
time to enable to Society to do the very important 
work that it does.

I would like to particularly acknowledge and 
thank my Senior Management team and all of 
the Society staff who have worked tirelessly 
again in 2009/2010 in what has again been a 
very successful year for the Society.  Thank you 
to each and every one of you.

Finally, thank you to all members for your 
continued support in 2009/2010.

David Price
Executive Director
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GOVERNANCE
Annual General Meeting
The Society’s Annual General Meeting was held 
on Monday, 26 October 2009.

Council
Councillor Meeting Attendance 
1 July 2009 to 31 December 2009

Member Total Council 
meetings attended 

(Total 5)
Dudley Stow 5
Hylton Quail 5
Simon Watters 4
Judith Fordham 3
Pamela Hass 5
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

5

Greg McIntyre SC 4
Carmel McKenzie 4
Denis McLeod 4
Rhonda Parks 2
Steven Penglis 4
John Prior 3
Michelle Quigley 1
Maria Saraceni 4
Shane Sirett 3
Craig Slater 4
John Staude 5
Haley Allan 3
Jeremy Sher 3
Gabrielle Clarke 3

Executive
The Executive, consisting of the President, 
Senior Vice President, Vice President, 
Treasurer and co-opted Council members met 
11 times during the year, including three special 
Executive meetings. 

Councillor Meeting Attendance 
1 January 2010 to 30 June 2010

Member Total Council 
meetings attended, 

inc. one special 
meeting (Total 6)

Hylton Quail 6
Simon Watters 5
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

5

Craig Slater 5
Simon Creek
(appointed June 2010)

0

Konrad de Kerloy 5
Judith Fordham 4
Graham Goerke 5
Pamela Hass 4
Belinda Lonsdale 4
Greg McIntyre SC 4
Denis McLeod 5
Carmel McKenzie 3
Steven Penglis 4
John Prior 5
Shane Sirett 2
John Staude 
(resigned February 2010)

0

Dudley Stow 6
Dr Eric Heenan 5
Matthew Keogh 6
Elaine Wambeck 5

Co-Opted Councillors 2009/2010
John Staude – May to August 2009
Dr Christopher Kendall – Sep to Dec 2009
Pamela Hass – January to April 2010 
Greg McIntyre SC – May to August 2010 
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Council as Trustees of Law Mutual
Councillor Meeting Attendance as Trustees of 
the Law Mutual Fund
1 July 2009 to 31 December 2009

Member Total Council 
meetings attended, 

inc. one special 
meeting (Total 2)

Dudley Stow 2
Hylton Quail 2
Simon Watters 1
Judith Fordham 1
Pamela Hass 2
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

2

Greg McIntyre SC 2
Carmel McKenzie 2
Denis McLeod 2
Rhonda Parks 0
Steven Penglis 1
John Prior 2
Michelle Quigley 1
Maria Saraceni 1
Shane Sirett 1
Craig Slater 2
John Staude 2
Haley Allan 2
Jeremy Sher 2
Gabrielle Clarke 2

Councillor Meeting Attendance as Trustees of 
the Law Mutual Fund 
1 January 2010 to 30 June 2010

There were no Council Meetings as Trustees of 
the Law Mutual Fund held between 1 January 
2010 to 30 June 2010
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Council as Trustees of the Public 
Purposes Trust
Councillor Meeting Attendance as Trustees of 
the Public Purposes Trust
1 July 2009 to 31 December 2009

Member Total Council 
meetings attended 

(Total 3)
Dudley Stow 3
Hylton Quail 3

Simon Watters 2
Judith Fordham 1
Pamela Hass 3
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

3

Greg McIntyre SC 3
Carmel McKenzie 2
Denis McLeod 3
Rhonda Parks 1
Steven Penglis 2
John Prior 3
Michelle Quigley 1
Maria Saraceni 2
Shane Sirett 1
Craig Slater 3
John Staude 3
Haley Allan 2
Jeremy Sher 3
Gabrielle Clarke 2

Councillor Meeting Attendance as Trustees of 
the Public Purposes Trust
1 January 2010 to 30 June 2010

Member Total Council 
meetings attended 

(Total 2)
Hylton Quail 2
Simon Watters 2
Dr Christopher 
Kendall

2

Craig Slater 2
Simon Creek 
(appointed June 2010)

0

Konrad de Kerloy 1
Judith Fordham 1
Graham Goerke 1
Pamela Hass 2
Belinda Lonsdale 2
Greg McIntyre SC 1
Denis McLeod 1
Carmel McKenzie 1
Steven Penglis 2
John Prior 1
Shane Sirett 2
John Staude
(resigned February 2010)

0

Dudley Stow 2
Dr Eric Heenan 2
Matthew Keogh 2
Elaine Wambeck 2



15The Law Society of Western Australia - Annual Report 2009/2010

TEAM REPORT - BUSINESS SUPPORT
In 2009/2010 the Society ended the year with 
accumulated net assets of $2,158,556 and 
cash reserves of $2,632,582. In 2009/2010 the 
Society paid a capitation fee of $98.54 (exc GST) 
per applicable member to the Law Council of 
Australia. 
 
The charts below reflect the income and 
expenditure for the Society in 2009/2010:

IT Plan
The Society adopted a three year IT Plan. A 
server replacement project will be undertaken 
in 2010/2011 to upgrade to a virtual server 
environment.

Investment Policy
In October 2009 the Society adopted an 
investment policy to administer all funds and to 
define the objective and purpose of investments.  
The policy also implemented increased reporting 
requirements to assist with governance practices.

Public Purposes Trust 
The Law Society of Western Australia is the 
trustee of the Public Purposes Trust. The 
trust’s financial and administrative functions are 
undertaken by the Business Support team.

During 2009/2010, the trust implemented triennial 
funding in order to assist applicants with financial 
stability and staff retention.  Grants approved 
for 2010/2011 total $2.3million. The trust has 
an active Investment Advisory Committee who 
manage the trust’s equity portfolio.

Legal Contribution Trust
The Legal Contribution Trust is the fidelity fund 
for WA and is an independent statutory trust 
established under the Legal Profession Act 2008 
(formerly Legal Contribution Trust Act 1967).  
The Society’s Business Support team provides 
financial and administrative support to the trust.

Membership Fees
40%

Business Support
13%

CPD
18%

FBLEC
7%

Membership 
Services

6%Governance
1%

Law Access
5% Policy & 

Professional
5%

Young Lawyers 
Committee

5%

Income by Department 2009/2010

Business Support
24%

CPD
16%

FBLEC
8%

Membership 
Services

17%

Governance
18%

Law Access
5%

Policy & 
Professional

8% Young Lawyers 
Committee

4%

Expenditure by Department 2009/2010
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TEAM REPORT - COMMUNITY SERVICES
This reporting period has been a time of 
consolidation for the various community services 
programs boosted by the achievement of securing 
three year funding from the Public Purpose Trust 
for the Francis Burt Law Education programs, Old 
Court House Museum and Law Access as well 
as negotiation of a three year service agreement 
with the Department of Education for the Law 
Society’s range of school education programs.

Securing funding beyond a 12 month term has 
been a long time objective of the programs and 
means that at last these various community 
service programs have been able to offer staff 
greater stability in their employment which in turn  
has allowed for longer term strategic planning. 
 
Law Access
Law Access continues 
to actively engage in a 
range of projects aimed 
at meeting the Society’s objective of increasing 
access to justice by members of the West 
Australian community.  These activities included:

Maintenance and expansion of the Society’s 
referral database saw the provision of  20,158 
referrals by the Society.  

The Pro Bono Referral Scheme continues in 
its important role of acting as a clearing house 
to help members of our community obtain legal 
assistance in areas of law where there is limited 
or no assistance available from other legal 
service providers.    

In the reporting period the pro bono coordinator 
has fielded over 620 individual contacts from 
members of the public seeking either referral or 
access to the scheme.

The Access to Justice Committee continues to 
play a crucial role in the operation of the scheme 

in providing their support, insight and direction 
as well as continuing to take on the important 
role of assessing the suitability of applications.  
The Committee assessed 50 applications in this 
reporting period of which 50% were approved 
and successfully placed.  Of the remaining 
applications half of those were not approved 
and the other half were approved but could not 
be placed.  The Law Society now has 40 firms 
registered on its pro bono database and is always 
working to expand the pool.

Law Access also updated its Pro Bono Referral 
brochure in this period and developed new 
feedback sheets for both Law Firms and 
applicants accessing the scheme.

Maintenance of Community and Stakeholder 
Networks.  Law Access continued its involvement 
in a range of networks and committees including:
• National Pro Bono Resource Centre
• Country Lawyers Stakeholder Group
• Community Stakeholders Consultative Group
• WA Legal Assistance Forum
• Agency visits with a range of community legal 

centres, and
• Ongoing facilitation of the Pro Bono Network 

Group.

Francis Burt Law Education Programs
The Society continues to provide a range of high 
quality education services which are the hallmark 
of the Society’s education programs.

This reporting period saw 6,183 participants 
come through the education programs in 2009 
alone, as the education team continued to provide 
tailored education programs to school students, 
a range of adult and community groups as well 
as the provision of professional development 
training to school teachers which took place in 
September 2009 and again in May 2010.
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Despite the introduction of a rental fee for the 
ongoing occupation of premises in Fremantle the 
education program has managed to maintain a 
presence in Fremantle.  The education program 
has also been able to consolidate it District Court 
tours as well as the introduction of tours through 
the Perth Magistrates Court and the introduction 
of a mediation program with the kind support of 
the Supreme Court and its Registrars.  

Old Court House Museum 
Of particular significance in this reporting period 
is the work that has been undertaken in the 
development of a Design and Interpretation Plan 
which has been conducted with the support of 
the Society and the provision of a Lotterywest 
grant for the project.  Other highlights in this 
reporting period include:
• Publication of The Old Court House 1837 – A 

Brief History: A5 Booklet produced for visitors 
to the Old Court House

• Law Week display: Big Wigs and Legal 
Gowns, 14 to 18 Sept 2009 

• Open Day: Sunday opening with Government 
House and Supreme Court, 18 October 2009

• Heritage Day: Screening of Weewar, six 
minute film produced for SBS series Deadly 
Yarns about the prosecution of a Bindjareb 
Nyungar warrior, 15 November 2009

• Law Week: Alfred Hawes Stone display and 
DVD presentation of Stone’s photographs of 
early Perth, May 2010

 
Other events held at the Old Court House 
included:
• Launch of second series of The Circuit (SBS) 

by Screenwest, November 2009   
• Book Launch of  Murdering Stepmothers by 

Anna Haebich, UWA Press, May 2010

Mock Trial Competition
Entering its 22nd year, the Mock Trial Competition 
continued to deliver a high quality education 
experience for Year 11 and 12 students. In 
total, there are 33 schools participating in the 
competition in 2010 and 78 teams.  Of these, 
719 students were registered in the competition.  
The Grand Finalist team for 2009/2010 was St 
Hilda’s Anglican Girls’ School.

The Society gratefully acknowledges the ongoing 
funding provided by the Department of the 
Attorney General which makes this competition 
possible.

Law Week
The Society hosted two Law Week events in 
this reporting period namely in September 2009 
and again in May 2010.  Due to changes at a 
national level future law week events will now 
take place in conjunction with other Australian 
jurisdictions in May of each year.  Both events 
were a great success and again served the 
function of highlighted a range of community 
and professional events which included, a range 
of public information seminars, the Law Week 
Luncheon which now has become a regular 
feature of Law Week, a seminar and panel 
discussion on Pro Bono in Western Australia, the 
Sir Ronald Wilson lectures which in 2009 was 
presented by Prof Greg Craven and in 2010 by 
the Hon. Justice Barker of the Federal Court.

Funding Acknowledgments 
The Society gratefully recognises that the range 
of community services provided in 2009/2010  
was supported through the provision of funding 
and in kind support from:
• Public Purposes Trust
• Department of Education
• Department of the Attorney General
• Lotterywest
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TEAM REPORT - MEMBER RELATIONS AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
The Society’s continuing efforts to provide higher 
value memberships through greater engagement 
with our members, working more closely to 
understand and meet needs and expectations 
and represent our members’ views provided an 
impetus for the creation of the Member Relations 
and Business Development team within the 
Society’s structure with effect from 1 January 
2010.  

Working closely with our Membership Services 
team, the Member Relations and Business 
Development team has built on our member 
contact strategy throughout 2009, involving 
firm presentations and face-to-face smaller 
meetings with members in city, metropolitan and 
country locations to update members on key 
Society initiatives, benefits and services with 
a view to assisting members to maximise their 
membership.  

The Society’s recent Membership Study 
(published in December 2009) and the reviewed 
and updated Communications and Marketing 
Plan 2010-2012 adopted by Council in May 
2010 also informs the member contact strategy 
and involves a planned and scheduled contact 
program with our members and prospective 
members.  

In 2010, the Society’s President Hylton 
Quail in conjunction with David Price, 
Executive Director and Kelly Hick, 
Executive Manager Member Relations 
and Business Development, undertook 
a comprehensive visit program meeting 
with senior representatives of a number 
of firms and other legal organisations.  
The National Legal Profession Reform 
project and the Society’s work in 
response to this project was an area of 
interest to many.

The Society’s media and communications 
area also forms an integral part of the Member 
Relations and Business Development team 
structure.  

The 2009/2010 year was a particularly busy one 
for the Society’s involvement with in the media 
with over a three-fold increase in recorded 
media comment from 2008/2009 coupled with 
the Society’s production of 22 media releases.  
The key issues attracting Society comment 
included stop and search legislation, mandatory 
sentencing, National Legal Profession Reform, 
legal aid funding, anti hoon laws, billable hours 
and judicial retirements/appointments.  

The 2009/2010 year also saw a revitalised look 
for our email communications - Friday Facts, 
YLC eNews, CPD Newsletter - and continuing 
refinement of our website to meet our member 
and other visitor needs.  

It was also very exciting to have the Society’s 
journal Brief move to full colour and feature a 
refreshed layout in February 2010.  
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TEAM REPORT - MEMBERSHIP AND PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
The Membership and Professional Development 
team was privileged to be involved with many of 
our members, both longstanding and new who 
attended the broad range of events, seminars 
and other initiatives conducted by the Society 
over the financial year.
 
Membership Services
The Society’s Strategic Plan formed the basis 
of many of the Membership and Professional 
Development area’s projects and initiatives in 
the 2009/2010 financial year – with some very 
exciting outcomes.  
 
The 2009/2010 year also saw the Society 
conduct a member survey which provided 
key feedback from members on the various 
areas of the Society’s operation. Importantly 
based on the results of the member survey, the 
Society established a new team, focusing on  
strengthening member relations and 
engagement. 
 
Membership information visits were made to the 
four university law schools, and practical legal 
training providers - the Articles Training Program 
and College of Law. Members of Council’s 
Executive also visited several regional areas 
to speak with practitioners about the Society’s 
services and benefits. 
 
The Society’s member privilege program was 
reviewed and new privileges introduced to ensure 
high value initiatives continue to be provided to 
members. 
 
The Society was again active over the financial 
year in conducting a number of special occasion, 
social and sporting events for the profession.  
Events included the reception for the Judiciary 
and 40, 50 and 60 year post-admission 
practitioners. The 2010 President’s Cocktail 
Party held in June extended the previous format 

to include a members-only invitation.  Life 
members of the Society were also honoured with 
the presentation of certificates on the evening.  
 
Continuing Professional Development
The Society reviewed its 
Continuing Professional 
Development Business 
Plan. This review included 
extensive research and 
benchmarking against other best practice 
professional membership based organisations. 
The 2010-2012 CPD Business Plan was approved 
by the Society’s Council and consequently the 
CPD offering will be diversified to include events 
of varying duration and formats and expanding 
the breadth of subject areas offered to the 
profession. 
 
Via the Society’s Learning Management System 
(LMS), members were able to attend both face-
to-face and online learning events. The Society’s 
CPD seminar program developed and delivered 
47 face-to-face seminars covering a range of 
practice and CPD competency areas during 
2009/2010.  The Society also conducted a 
Costs School and two Legal Assistants’ Training 
Courses during the year.  The Young Lawyers 
Committee Basics Series, Advocacy Workshop 
and Advocacy Weekend together with Law Office 
Management educational seminars also offered 
18 further broad-based programs attracting CPD 
points.  
 
With the generous support of the Courts and 
Tribunal Services of the Department of the 
Attorney General and the District Court, the 
Society conducted a videoconference to the 
regions in September 2009 (Ethics in Litigation), 
beaming live by video link from the Perth District 
Court’s Ceremonial Court to regional courthouses 
in Albany, Broome, Bunbury, Geraldton and 
Kalgoorlie. 

TEAM REPORT - MEMBER RELATIONS AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

CPD
C O N T I N U I N G D E V E L O P M E N TP R O F E S S I O N A L



20 The Law Society of Western Australia - Annual Report 2009/2010

The Society is grateful for the time, effort and 
expertise of the various members who through 
the Education Committee and its advisory bodies 
contribute to the Society’s CPD program. In 
addition, the diverse range of speakers who gave 
their time to present at our CPD events must also 
be acknowledged for their contributions. 
 
A highlight of the Society’s CPD calendar 
was the 2010 Law Summer School – a joint 
undertaking of the Society and the University 
of Western Australia’s law school.  Held at the 
University Club in February 2010, Law Summer 
School offered an excellent program of national 
and local speakers and the opportunity to secure 
seven CPD points in one day, and was a sell-out 
well in advance of the event date.  Preparations 
have now commenced for the 2011 Law Summer 
School program and our sincere thanks are 
extended to the organising committee.  
 

Quality Practice Standard 
43 firms are accredited with the Quality Practice 
Standard. 

17 firms attended QPS 
Compulsory training and 
seven firms attended QPS 
Optional training to prepare 
for certification held at the Law 
Society of Western Australia.  
11 firms registered their interest in QPS for this 
period.  

One firm had QPS all day in-house training for 
Compulsory training and Optional training. 

Two new firms qualified for QPS certification, 
which are:
• Vogt Graham Legal Pty Ltd (trading as Kim 

Wilson & Co)
• Hickslaw Pty Ltd (trading as Lawfield Legal 

Practice)  

20 QPS firms achieved the significant milestone 
of having retained their accreditation for 10 
years.  

Law Summer School 2010 was a resounding success for the Society’s CPD program and featured such 
esteemed speakers as Hon Robert McClelland MP, Federal Attorney General.



21The Law Society of Western Australia - Annual Report 2009/2010

TEAM REPORT - POLICY AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES
The Policy and Professional Services team 
contributes significantly to the Society as ‘the 
voice of the legal profession in Western Australia’. 

Comments prepared by the committees whether 
in response to requests from government 
agencies or from the Law Council of Australia 
on federal issues, or at the committees’ own 
initiative, are submitted to the Council for 
approval. In 2009/2010 the Society made 48 
submissions, the majority emanating from the 
work of these committees. 

Some of the committees also direct their attention 
to guidelines and other resources to benefit 
members.
 
Committee Memberships
In 2009 the biennial review of committee 
memberships was conducted.  41 members 
joined committees for the first time and the 
membership of 53 existing members was 
renewed.   

COAG National Legal Profession 
Reform Project
In 2009 the Law Council of Australia revised its 
Model Conduct Rules. At a meeting of the Law 
Council Directors in November 2009 the revised 
Model Conduct Rules were approved and an 
Ethics Committee was established to further 
develop these Rules as Australian Solicitors 
Conduct Rules (ASCR). 

An Ethics Committee member represents the 
Society on the Law Council Ethics Committee. 
Draft ASCR formed part of the National Legal 
Profession Reform Package that was issued for 
comment by the COAG Taskforce in May 2010. 
The Society’s comments on the draft ASCR were 
taken back to the Law Council Ethics Committee 
by our representative. The Society supports 

national conduct rules. It is the Society’s view 
that the same conduct rules should apply to all 
Australian legal practitioners.

Members of the Ethics, Commercial Law and 
Costs Committees were members of an ad hoc 
committee formed by the Council to assist with 
the review of the draft National Law and National 
Rules. (The latter are practice rules, not conduct 
rules.) The Executive Manager assisted the 
Council with the preparation of submissions to 
the Council of Law Societies, the Law Council 
and the COAG Taskforce.

2009 Revision of the Joint Form of 
General Conditions for the Sale of Land
The Society’s General Conditions Committee, in 
conjunction with REIWA, is responsible for the 
Joint Form of General Conditions for the Sale 
of Land.  The 2002 revision was updated in 
2008/2009 and the 2009 revision was issued in 
the latter half of 2009. 

Guidelines
The Society’s ‘Guide to Setting Up and Selling 
a Law Practice’ was published in 2006 and 
is available free to members on the Society’s 
website.  As the Guide includes many legislative 
references it was updated in 2010 to include the 
provisions of the Legal Profession Act 2008 and 
the Legal Profession Regulations 2009. Relevant 
sections of the revised Guide were settled by 
representatives of the Commercial Law, Costs 
and Employee Relations Committees.

‘Ethical and Practice Guidelines’ were completed
by the Ethics Committee as a guide to everyday 
practice addressing issues such as duties 
to the court, duties of courtesy and fairness, 
undertakings, conflicts, dealing with witnesses, 
etc.
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Senior Advisors Panel
With the cooperation of the Western Australian 
Bar Association, the membership of the Senior 
Advisors Panel was increased in late 2009 to 
include all Senior Counsel who are not members 
of the Legal Profession Complaints Committee.

Society members are encouraged to read 
the individual committee reports and list of 
submissions included in this Annual Report to 
gain an understanding of the enormous voluntary 
contribution made by committee members and 
without which the Society could not achieve its 
objectives.

TEAM REPORT - LAW MUTUAL
The total amount 
payable per principal 
for professional 
indemnity insurance for 2009/2010 was $6,264 
which is a 4.4% over the total amount payable in 
2008/2009 of $6,000.

Due to increased pressure in the professional 
indemnity insurance market, the Contribution 
rates payable per practitioner increased by 9%. 
This increased the contribution payable per 
principal from $5,010 in 2008/2009 to $5,474 for 
2009/2010.

Council was able to partly offset this increase 
by reducing the Administration Levy payable per 
practitioner by 20% from $990 in 2008/2009 to 
$790 in 2009/2010.

For the 2009/2010 year, Law Mutual placed 
the professional indemnity insurance 
arrangements with QBE Insurance (Australia) 
Ltd: 60%, Vero Insurance Limited: 15%, Newline 
(Lloyds Syndicate): 15% and Amlin (Lloyds  
Syndicate): %10.

The rate of claims has remained stable over 
the last 12 months. The professional indemnity 
insurance market traditionally sees an increase 
in claims in times of economic downturn.

The risk management programme has continued 
and the topic covered was issues relating to a 
lawyers’ duty and it focused on lawyers limiting 
their liability by focusing on better retainer 
management. Approximately 2,300 practitioners 
attended 40 seminars conducted by Law Mutual 
(WA) in the metropolitan and country centres in 
WA.
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COMMITTEE REPORTS
Aboriginal Lawyers Committee
The Aboriginal Lawyers Committee was 
established in 2010. It is the first Law Society 
Committee to focus on issues of importance to 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and 
whose membership is restricted to Aboriginal or 
Torres Strait Islander people. The Convenor is 
June Kenny.

The Committee had its first meeting on 12 May 
2010 and has met since met monthly. As at July 
2010, the Committee had six members, including 

one undergraduate law student and is actively 
seeking further members.

Under its Terms of Reference, the Committee 
is established for the purpose of encouraging, 
supporting and advancing Aboriginal lawyers, law 
graduates and law students and communicating 
with the legal profession and broader community 
on issues important to Indigenous peoples.

Access to Justice Committee 
The main role of the Access to Justice Committee, 
convened by Rick Cullen, is to try and fill the gap 
for poorer litigants in the justice system. This 
is achieved by overseeing the Law Access Pro 
Bono Referral Scheme.  In August 2009 the Law 
Access Pro Bono Referral Scheme Guidelines 
and Policies were adopted.

In 2009/10 the Committee assessed a total of 
50 applications. The applications are reviewed 
by Committee members who determine merit. 
A private lawyer was found to assist almost all 
worthy applicants.

The Committee also canvassed the introduction 
of a volunteer or pro bono category of practising 

certificate. The Committee believes such a 
category of practising certificate would enable 
qualified persons, but who do not currently 
hold a practising certificate, to undertake pro 
bono work through community legal centres. A 
memorandum was prepared for the Society’s 
Council in response to the National Pro Bono 
Centre’s report on Engaging Retired and Career 
Break Lawyers in Pro Bono. 

The Committee also recommended the removal 
of administration fees by Law Mutual for ‘nil 
practitioners’ to allow professional indemnity 
insurance at a nominal level and considered a 
number of issues surrounding criminal appeals 
in the Court of Appeal.
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Alternative Dispute Resolution 
Committee 
In 2009/2010 the activities of the Alternative 
Dispute Resolution Committee, convened by 
Laurie James, included: 
1. Preparing draft Mediation Rules, which have 

been adopted by the Law Society Council.
2. Achieving for the Society the status of a 

Recognised Mediator Accrediting Body and 
appointing a member to NMAC, the National 
Mediator Accreditation Committee.

3. Preparing a submission on behalf of the Law 
Society to the State Attorney General and the 
Standing Committee of Attorneys General in 
regard to the proposed Uniform Commercial 
Arbitration Legislation.

4. Preparing a submission to NADRAC (National 
Alternative Dispute Resolution Advisory 
Council) on Alternative Dispute Resolution in 
the Federal Civil Justice system.

In addition, on the initiative of the Committee, the 
Law Society conducted two workshops on Ethics 
in ADR, on 30 July 2009 and 11 March 2010.  
The workshops were lively, involving a high level 
of attendee participation.

Administrative, Constitutional and 
Migration Law Committee 
The Convenor of the Administrative, Constitutional 
and Migration Law Committee is Michelle Hullett. 
In 2009/2010, at a State level, the Committee 
prepared a submission to the Attorney General 
on the State Government’s response to the 
Report of the Legislative Council’s Standing 
Committee on Legislation, following its inquiry 
into the jurisdiction and operation of the SAT 
and range of recommendations that were made 
(Report 14 Standing Committee on Legislation, 
Inquiry into the Jurisdiction and Operation of the 
State Administrative Tribunal). 

The Committee also prepared a submission to 
the State Freedom of Information Commissioner 
who was examining and reporting on the manner 
in which agencies are administering the FOI Act.

At a Federal level, the Committee prepared a 
submission to the Department of Immigration 
& Citizenship commenting on the Review of 

the Department’s Migration Advice Scheme. 
Representatives from the Committee attended 
the inaugural WA Community Liaison Meeting 
held in Perth which was conducted by the 
Commonwealth Migration Review Tribunal and 
Refugee Review Tribunal.

The Committee also considered and noted 
reports, proposals and recommendations and 
proposed legislation in relevant areas, such as 
the Commonwealth’s Migration Amendment 
(Visa Capping) Bill 2010 and the State 
Government’s Approvals and Related Reforms 
(No 1) (Environment) Bill 2009. The progress of 
proposed legislative changes were monitored, 
such as those foreshadowed for the CCC’s 
role in relation to organised crime in view of 
the recommendations of Gail Archer SC on the 
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003, 
and the continuing debate relating to proposed 
legislation concerning Human Rights.
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Brief Editorial Committee 
The Brief Editorial Committee is convened by 
Ronald Bower. Brief journal was published as the 
official publication of the Law Society of Western 
Australia 11 times in 2009/2010. During the year 
the process of development and improvement 
of the journal, commenced in the previous year, 
was continued. 

The design of the journal underwent further 
alterations, the objectives being to improve the 
attractiveness and readability of the pages of 
editorial content and to expand the use of colour. 
Another change was the introduction of the 
dedicated young lawyer section of the journal, 
Young Lawyers News, to make the journal more 

appealing and 
relevant to younger 
practitioners. The 
response from 
young lawyers has been enthusiastic, with a 
strong and maintained willingness to submit 
items for inclusion.

Overall the journal continues to be well-supported 
by voluntary authors from within the profession. 
Practitioners from the bar, government, 
community legal centres, Legal Aid, small and 
large firms and other practice areas generously 
write and submit quality material.

Clear Writing Committee 
The Clear Writing Committee was established 
in 1996 to promote clear writing by the legal 
profession of Western Australia.  The Committee 
Convenor is Professor Neil McLeod. Since 
1998 the Committee has conducted a plain 
English drafting competition for law students. 
The competition problem has in the past been 
incorporated into a course at Murdoch University 
and is currently incorporated into a course at the 
University of Western Australia. In 2011 it is likely 
that the competition problem will be incorporated 
into courses at Notre Dame and Edith Cowan 
Universities.

In 2010, 103 students entered the competition. 
The entries are judged by the Committee 
members. One of the six prizes was reserved 
for a student in the first year of the study of law. 
The six prize winners were Michelle Hankey, a 
first year student at Murdoch, and Tim Summers, 
Amanda Cameron, Tracey Kingsbury, Sarah Teh 
Zelin and Rebecca McCrory who are all students 
at the University of Western Australia.

The winners receive a winner’s certificate and 
a cash prize of $150 sponsored by Freehills, 
Jackson McDonald, Allens Arthur Robinson, 
Norton Rose, Tottle Partners and Blake Dawson.
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Commercial Law Committee 
The Commercial Law Committee is convened 
by Rachel Webber. The Committee has 
representatives on a number of liaison groups:
• State Revenue
• Consumer Protection
• Insolvency
• Australian Securities and Investments 

Commission
• Law Council of Australia, Business Law 

Section, Corporations Law Committee

Members of the Committee attended meetings 
and forums to obtain information and to provide 
feedback on behalf of the Society, on various 
topics including the COAG Consumer Protection 
National Reform Agenda, and various ASIC 
initiatives.  

In 2009/2010 the Committee considered a wide 
range of commercial issues and monitored 
legal developments and the progress of new 
legislation in relation to a number of different 
subject areas including the establishment of the 
Australian Personal Property Securities Register 
& Legislative Framework, the introduction of 
the Australian Consumer Law, the proposed 
National Occupational Licensing System and 
the proposed Insolvency law Reform package. 
The Committee contributed to submissions or 
responses from the Society in relation to matters 
including the Inquiry into Cybercrime and its 
Impact on Australian Consumers. 

Costs Committee 
The Convenor of the Costs Committee is Stewart 
Forbes. One of the Committee’s roles is to make 
recommendations to the Society’s Council in 
relation to reviews conducted by the statutory 
Legal Costs Committee (“LCC”).  In 2009/2010 
the Society made detailed submissions to 
reviews of the scales of costs in the Supreme 
Court, District Court and Magistrates’ Court and 
in relation to Probate matters and Public Notaries. 
Most of the new scales have been published and 
almost all of the Society’s structural submissions 
were accepted in the new Supreme Court scale.  

In 2009/2010 the Committee also spent 
considerable time and effort in reviewing and 
advising in relation to the implementation of the 
Legal Profession Act 2008.  The Legal Profession 
Act 2008 came into effect on 1 March 2009.  A 
number of issues have arisen and a meeting 
was held with Registrars of the Supreme Court 

to address these issues.  Committee members 
have been involved on an ongoing basis in 
providing seminars in relation to the far reaching 
changes to solicitor/client costs issues brought 
about by the Act.  

The draft National Legal Profession Reform 
legislation also occupied a substantial amount of 
time and is ongoing.  

Other matters considered by the Committee in 
2009/2010 included:
• Charges for paying accounts by credit card
• Costs of acquitted persons in criminal cases
• Liaison with the Attorney General in relation 

to reform of the Suitors’ Fund Act
• Costs law reform, and particularly alternatives 

to time billing
• Litigation funding  
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Country Practitioners Committee 
The Country Practitioners Committee, convened 
by Carol McKenzie, has members from Albany, 
Broome, Bunbury, Carnarvon, Geraldton and 
Kalgoorlie. The Committee meets as required by 
teleconference to discuss issues facing country 
practitioners and ways of resolving them.

The Committee met by teleconference in April 
2010 and discussed matters including:
• CPD - various ways of achieving CPD points 

in regional areas

• Regional Practitioner of the Year Award
• Appointment of Contractor – Sheriff’s Officer 

and Bailiff Services for the south of the State
• Circuits Improvement Project
• Perth Magistrates Court – Telephone Link
• Representative for the Ad Hoc Committee on 

Psychological Distress and Depression in the 
legal profession

• Promoting QPS to regional firms

Courts Committee 
The Courts Committee, convened by Steven 
Penglis, continues to provide a regular point of 
contact between the Society and the Federal 
Court, Supreme Court, District Court and 
Magistrates’ Court, as well as, albeit to a lesser 
extent, the High Court and the State Administrative 
Tribunal. The open dialogue which the Courts 
Committee enjoys with these courts has resulted 
in the number of major issues which it has had 
to deal with remaining significantly reduced from 
that which the Courts Committee was required to 
deal with in the past.

The effectiveness of the open lines of 
communication between the Law Society and the 
courts is largely as a result of the courts being 
represented on the Committee. In this regard, the 
contribution of Registrar Jan, Principal Registrar 
Chapman, Registrar Kingsley, Magistrate 

Bromfield and Senior Member Tim Carey of the 
State Administrative Tribunal is acknowledged.

In 2009/2010 the Committee dealt with matters 
including the review of the Magistrates’ Court 
Rules, establishing machinery for the regular 
revision of the judgment interest rate under 
the Civil Judgments Enforcements Act 2004; 
preparing and recommending to the State 
Government the adoption of model litigant 
guidelines; commenting upon various rule 
changes proposed by the Supreme Court; use 
of video link and audio link for the taking of 
evidence in the District Court; proposed duties 
of disclosure with respect to third party funded 
litigation; and considering whether to recommend 
that the requirement for the parties to attend at 
the first case management conference in the 
Supreme Court ought be dispensed with.
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Criminal Law Committee 
The Convenor of the Criminal Law Committee 
is John Prior. 2009/2010 was a very busy year 
for the Criminal Law Committee as the State 
Government has Law and Order and relevant 
legislative reform high on its political agenda. 

The Committee’s attempts to make constructive 
submissions on proposed legislative 
amendments impacting upon the Criminal Justice 
System in Western Australia was often frustrated 
by the time limits given to make submissions. 
Coupled with its role of responding to proposed 
legislative amendments, the Committee also 
suggests constructive amendments to laws 
and procedures followed in the various criminal 
law jurisdictions by relying on the positive and 
negative experiences of its members who 
regularly appear in the various courts.

Some of the more significant submissions made 
in 2009/2010 included the following.
• Statutory Review of the Sentencing Act 1995 

- A number of submissions were made and 
some innovative sentencing options such as 
Home Detention and Periodic Detention were 
suggested.

• Children’s Court – A submission was made 
on draft rules proposed by the President of 
the Children’s Court.

• The Road Traffic Amendment Bill 2010 (Hoon 
Legislation) – Legislative amendments were 
introduced into the State Parliament as a result 
of practical problems experienced with the 
implementation of the legislation. Submission 
was made on these amendments. Many of 
the fundamental problems in the legislation 
will not be cured by these amendments.

• Prohibited Behaviour Orders - The Society’s 
President lobbied against the introduction 
of these orders.  The UK experience has 
not justified similar legislative provisions nor 
has the Western Australian Police Service 
provided clear evidence to support their 
introduction.  

• A Scheme for Classification of Child 
Pornography Offences - Submission was 
made to the Western Australian Criminal 
Justice Forum that a classification scheme be 
adopted where in appropriate circumstances 
viewing of the offending images could 
be avoided by the Court and counsel for 
sentencing purposes.

• Criminal Investigation Amendment Bill 2009 
(Stop and Search Police Powers) - Submission 
was made opposing this amendment as no 
credible evidence to support the increase 
in police powers had been provided by the 
Western Australian Police Service.

• Fast Track Pleas of Guilty - The Committee 
was concerned with the increase of materials 
being placed before Superior Courts by the 
State DPP’s Office after fast track pleas of 
guilty have been entered by offenders. The 
Committee raised this issue with the State 
DPP advising that the practice has the 
potential impact of undermining the benefit of 
fast track plea process for offenders.

• Selection, Eligibility and Exemption of Jurors – 
Western Australian Law Reform Commission 
Report – A submission was made on the 
Report the  focus of which was changes to 
the categories of persons who are eligible for 
jury duty.
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Education Committee 
The Convenor of the Education Committee is 
Gregory Boyle. In 2009/2010, 47 face-to-face 
CPD learning events, inclusive of Law Summer 
School 2010, were held. 

In addition to the mainstream CPD Learning 
Events the CPD department made an array of 
alternative learning methods available to all 
aspects of the profession:
• One Costs School was held in March 2010; 
• Two video conferences streamed to the  

regional centres of Bunbury, Albany, Broome, 
Kalgoorlie and Geraldton

• Two Legal Assistants’ Training Courses were 
held

• 29 online-delivered seminars available 
through the Learning Management System 
(LMS)

• Successful implementation of Costs Guide 
Online by David Garnsworthy

The Education Committee is highly appreciative 
to those who gave generously of their time and 
expertise during the 2009/2010 financial year 
in the form of chairing or presenting at CPD 
learning events. Their generosity ensured that 
the profession of Western Australia was delivered 
a sufficient amount of relevant and interesting 
CPD topics during this period.

Employee Relations Committee 
The Employee Relations Committee is convened 
by Stephen Kemp. In 2009/2010 the Committee 
considered the practical operation of the Fair Work 
Act with a view to developing training seminars 
to be presented by the Society. Committee 
members provided input for submissions made 
on guidelines for the prevention of discrimination 
in employment based on criminal records; on the 
Legal Services Modern Award; to the sections 

on employment issues on the Society’s Guide to 
Setting Up or Selling a Law Practice in Western 
Australia; and provided articles on relevant topics 
for Brief.

Members of the Committee were also active in 
the deliberations and recommendations of the 
Society’s ad hoc Committee on bullying.

Equal Opportunity Committee 
The Equal Opportunity Committee is chaired 
by Ilse Petersen. Much of the Committee’s time 
in 2009/2010 was directed to its involvement 
in the ad hoc Committee on bullying (which 
includes volunteers from other Committees and 
is chaired by David Blades). A survey of bullying 
in the legal profession was completed and a final 
report from Associate Professor Maryam Omari, 
who conducted the survey, will be prepared by 
August 2010.

In addition, the Committee had a lunch time 
meeting the Commissioner of the Equal 
Opportunity Commission on 17 June 2010 and 
throughout the year Mrs Elizabeth Heenan 
informed the Committee of the progress of the 
Law Council of Australia Equalising Opportunities 
in the Law Committee.
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Ethics Committee 
The Ethics Committee is convened by Julian Sher. 
A traditional role of the Ethics Committee has 
been to make recommendations to the Society’s 
Council with respect to the ‘Law Society of 
Western Australia Professional Conduct Rules’. 
The Legal Profession Act 2008 gives the Legal 
Practice Board (LPB) the power to make statutory 
conduct rules. Ethics Committee members were 
among the Society’s representatives on the LPB 
Conduct Rules Advisory Committee until the 
end of 2009. At a meeting of the Law Council 
of Australia Directors in November 2009 a Law 
Council Ethics Committee was established to 
review and update Model Australian Solicitors 
Conduct Rules. A Committee member represents 
the Society on this Law Council Committee and 
attended a number of meetings in the first half of 
2010. These Australian Solicitors Conduct Rules 
formed part of the National Legal Profession 
Reform Package that was issued for comment 
by the COAG Taskforce in May 2010. 

In November 2009 the Committee reviewed 
the COAG National Legal Profession Reform 
Project Position Paper ‘National Legal Services 
Ombudsman’. The Committee opposed 

establishing the position of Ombudsman. The 
Society’s Council agreed with the Committee 
and has maintained its opposition. 

In 2004 the Society established the Senior 
Advisors Panel. The initial panel had been 
depleted due to elevation to the Bench of many 
of the Panel members.  An approach was made 
to the President of the Western Australian Bar 
Association to request all silks to agree to be 
named members of the Panel. There was full 
cooperation from the WABA President and 
Senior Counsel for which the Society is extremely 
grateful. Only those Senior Counsel who are 
members of the Legal Profession Complaints 
Committee are not named members of the 
revised Senior Advisors Panel.

In 2009 the Committee also directed its attention 
towards education. Two seminars on ethical 
issues were held in the second half of 2009 and 
further seminars are planned. Further, a great 
deal of the Committee’s energy was directed 
towards the completion of ‘Ethical and Practice 
Guidelines’ and a review of the Society’s ‘List of 
Courtesies’. 

Graduate Recruitment Monitoring 
Scheme Committee 
The Graduate Recruitment Monitoring Scheme 
Committee is chaired by Associate Professor 
Jane Power.  Members of the Committee include:
• The Deans of all four law schools, or their 

delegate
• A representative of the CLAP firms
• A representative of small/medium firms
• A representative of Government bodies 

(LAWA, SSO, DPP)

• A representative of law students; and
• A representative of graduates/young lawyers 

The Committee’s purpose has been to 
administer the Society’s Recruitment Monitoring 
Scheme providing guidelines for a framework 
for graduates and vacation clerks to apply for 
positions. That framework included the setting of 
dates for applications and offers. 
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In July 2009 a number of firms that had previously 
participated in the recruitment process, 
following the guidelines, chose not to do so by 
making early offers for graduate positions. The 
Committee undertook an extensive consultation 
process with stakeholders, including a Forum 
convened in November 2009 to comment on the 
process and provide feedback to the Committee. 
As a result of the consultation process, the 
Committee made a number of recommendations 
to the Society’s Council in relation to a new 
set of recruitment guidelines and dates which 
recommendations were adopted in December 
2009.  The Guidelines were then distributed to 
all stakeholder groups who may have an interest 
in participating in the framework. 

In June 2010, after careful consideration, the 
Society’s Council resolved to discontinue the 

Graduate Recruitment Monitoring Scheme. 
Students who had enquiries relating to when and 
how firms or organisations are likely to call for 
applications for vacation clerkship or graduate 
employment, or other matters related to clerkships 
or graduate employment, were advised to contact 
the particular firm or organisation in question. All 
law schools were also key in disseminating this 
information.  

The Committee’s future role will be to continue 
to observe graduate recruitment trends in WA; 
to encourage students to join the Law Society; 
to liaise between relevant groups; and to monitor 
students’ well-being. The Committee proposes 
to meet in September 2010 to consider a new 
name to better reflect the Committee’s future 
purpose. 

Human Rights Committee 
The Convenor of the Human Rights Committee 
is Greg McIntyre SC. During 2009/2010 a 
submission was prepared for the Council of the 
Law Society on the Development of Law Council 
Policy on a Federal Charter or Bill of Rights – 
Submission/Position Paper to the Human Rights 
Act – National Consultation Committee.

The Committee had meetings with other Society 
Committees to discuss matters of mutual interest. 
The Committee met with the Equal Opportunity 
Committee, Young Lawyers Committee Human 

Rights Working Group and the Joint Law Society/
Women Lawyers Committee to prepare comment 
to the Law Council of Australia on the effectiveness 
of the Sex Discrimination Amendment Bill 2010 in 
eliminating discrimination and promoting gender 
equality. The Committee also met with the Young 
Lawyers Committee Human Rights Working 
Group to consider the Australian Government’s 
Human Rights Framework and what strategies 
the Society might adopt to promote human rights 
at Commonwealth and State levels. 
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Insolvency and Reconstruction 
Committee 
The Insolvency and Reconstruction Committee, 
the Convenor of which is Victoria Butler, is a 
joint Committee of the Law Society of Western 
Australia and the Business Law Section of 
the Law Council of Australia. The agenda for 
Committee meetings is produced by the Law 
Council of Australia. 

In 2009/2010 the Committee considered or 
contributed to the following submissions:
• Submission re s116(2) of the Bankruptcy Act 

1966
• Submission regarding the Government’s 

proposal to introduce a business judgment 
rule for insolvent trading claims

• Submission to the Senate Inquiry into 
Liquidators and Administrators

• ASIC’s Consultation Paper on “Duty to 
prevent insolvent trading: Guide for directors”

• Bankruptcy Amendment Regulations 2010
• Proposed amendments to the Bankruptcy 

Rules 

The Committee liaised formally and informally with 
ASIC, the Insolvency Practitioners Association 
and Insolvency and Trustee Service Australia. 
Committee members, by way of information 
sharing, have discussed recent cases within the 
bankruptcy and corporate insolvency contexts. 
Committee member, Rob McKenzie, attended 
and presented a paper at the Annual National 
Workshop for Insolvency and Reconstruction 
Committees of the Business Law Section of the 
Law Council of Australia.

Intellectual Property Committee 
The Intellectual Property Committee is convened 
by David Cox. In 2009/2010 the Committee 
liaised regularly with IP Australia, the statutory 
body that administers Intellectual Property laws 
in Australia, the Intellectual Property Society of 
Australia and New Zealand, and the Federal 
Court of Australia.

Matters discussed by the Committee included:
• Closure of the IP Australia sub-office in WA (a 

submission to the relevant Ministers opposing 
this closure was prepared for approval by the 
Society’s Council)

• Arranging speakers for Universities and 
TAFES

• A proposed certificated course being 
developed by IP Australia

• Accreditation and advertising of a seminar on 
Branding

The Convenor and other Committee members 
delivered a talk on Intellectual Property to the 
proceeds of crime section of the DPP and the 
Convenor delivered talks on General Intellectual 
Property to Central TAFE. The Committee 
discussed the creation of a list of practitioners 
willing to deliver talks on Intellectual Property 
matters to community and academic groups.
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Joint Form of General Conditions for 
the Sale of Land Committee 
The Joint Form of General Conditions for 
the Sale of Land Committee is convened by 
Gregory Boyle.  The most significant work of the 
Committee in 2009/2010 was the publication 
early in the year of the 2009 Revision of the 
Joint Form of General Conditions for the Sale of 
Land, the culmination of work that had started in 
December 2008.  A sell-out education seminar 
was held on 23 July 2009. There was a further 
reprint of the General Conditions in September 

2009 addressing some minor formatting issues 
which were brought to the Committee’s attention 
at that seminar. 

The Committee has met alone and with 
representatives of REIWA several times since 
in its continuing oversight of changes in law and 
practice and the effect those changes might have 
on the 2009 Revision. 

LAWASIA Committee
The focus of the LAWASIA Committee, convened 
by Kanaga Dharmananda, has been to monitor 
developments in the LAWASIA community 
of countries at meetings and through email 
discussions.

The LAWASIA Committee has taken steps to 
implement a secondment or attachment scheme 
to enable lawyers from developing countries to 
spend time with law firms or other institutions 
in Western Australia. A candidate from the 
Indonesian Advocates Association (PERADI) 
has been proposed and the Committee has been 

working with law firms to progress and advance 
arrangements to enable the attachment to take 
place.

The Committee has considered and sought to 
advance LAWASIA events within the Law Society. 
Several members of the Committee attended the 
LAWASIA Conference in Vietnam in November 
2009. Should a sufficient contingent of members 
propose to travel to New Delhi for the conference 
in late 2010, the Committee will coordinate 
efforts to enable a distinctive presence at the 
conference from Western Australia.

Law Mutual Professional Indemnity 
Insurance Management Committee 
The Professional Indemnity Insurance 
Management Committee (PIIMC) was 
established by the Society’s Council in 
September 2009 in accordance with section 331 
of the Legal Practice Act. (LPA) The PIIMC was 
created to assist the Council to meet its obligation 
to arrange PI Insurance for legal practitioners in 
Western Australia and to assist the Council in its 
role as the Trustee of the Law Mutual Fund.

To broaden the breadth of expertise available 
to the PIIMC, as permitted under Section 331, 
the Council appointed an external member to 
the PIIMC with knowledge and experience in the 
insurance industry.

The PIIMC was involved in arranging PI 
insurance for the 2010/2011 insurance year with 
Contributions reducing by approximately 11% 
while the Administration Levy was held constant 
for the second consecutive year.
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Law Mutual Professional Indemnity 
Insurance Nominations Committee 
The Professional Indemnity Insurance 
Nomination Committee (PIINC) was established 
by Council to assist it in appointing members to the 
Professional Indemnity Insurance Management 
Committee. 

During the year, the PIINC made recommendations 
to Council regarding the appointment of both 
members of Council and external people who 

have relevant insurance or financial expertise. 

In forming its recommendations to Council, 
the PIINC undertook substantial due diligence 
regarding the suitability of prospective external 
members with the goal of achieving the optimum 
skills balance within the Professional Indemnity 
Insurance Management Committee.

Law Office Management Committee 
The Convenor of the Law Office Management 
Committee is Corene Baird. The Committee now 
has its own logo to be used on all publications 
and marketing material for the Committee. The 
LOM area on the Society’s website has been 
updated and the Law Office Managers Directory 
is in the process of being updated.

In 2009/2010 the work of the Committee included:
• Conducting the 2010 Annual Salary Survey 
• The Legal Assistants training course, March 

– May 2010 (the highest ever number of 
registrants)

• Presenting seminars
• Presenting with PowerPoint – and How to 

Avoid Being Instantly Forgettable!
• Improving the Workplace Environment – 

Dealing Effectively with Difficult Workplace 
Situations 

• Business Plan on a 
Page

• Modern Award – 
Fair Work Act – 
Understanding the 
Modern Award and 
How it Affects your Firm 

• Risk Management: Retainer Agreement for 
Support Staff

Functions included the LOM Office Cocktails held 
on 28 April 2010 at Platform Bar and Restaurant 
at which the Outstanding Contribution Award 
was announced. The fourth Law Office Expo, 
Better Practice is planned for October 2010 and 
seminars for 2010/2011 were also planned.
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Personal Injuries and Workers 
Compensation Committee 
The Personal Injuries and Workers Compensation 
Committee is convened by Gray Porter. Most of 
the Committee’s work relates to personal injuries 
and workers’ compensation issues at a State 
level. However, a member of the Committee 
represents the Society on the Law Council of 
Australia Personal Injuries Committee and 
reports to the Committee on issues at a Federal 
level. A Committee member also represents the 
profession on the WorkCover Costs Committee.

In 2009/2010 the Committee prepared 
submissions on a wide range of issues including:
• To the Attorney General to reduce the 

discount rate for personal injury claims to 
achieve national harmonisation and to reflect 
the current economy. The Attorney General 
was of the view that there was not at present 
a sufficiently compelling case to vary the 
statutory rate because discount rates are but 
one component of the damages assessment 
process

• To WorkCover in support of the installation of 
video-conferencing facilities and until they are 
available to establish a protocol for the use of 
facilities at the District Court or elsewhere

• To WorkCover for mutual recognition and 
greater availability of Approved Medical 
Specialists

• To the Statutory Review Reference Group to 
delete s93(4)(c)(i) [30 day time limit for the 
commencement of proceedings] or that it be 
substituted with a sub-section similar to s29(2) 

of the Motor Vehicle Third Party Insurance 
Act 1943. If statutory amendment was not 
favoured at this time, a new regulation (reg. 
25A) was suggested as an alternative in the 
interim

• To the Law Council of Australia in response 
to its Position Paper on harmonisation of 
workers’ compensation laws

The Society was represented by Committee 
member John Fiocco on the Statutory Review 
Reference Group established by the former 
Minister the Hon Troy Buswell in May 2009. The 
Committee reviewed a series of papers and 
informed Mr Fiocco of its views for passing on 
to the Reference Group.  The former Minister 
announced the outcome of the review on 8 April 
2010. Proposed changes were the removal 
of aged based entitlement limitations, injured 
workers employed by uninsured employers to 
receive common law compensation, amendments 
to Dispute Resolution framework and the time 
period in s93K(4)(c)(i) be extended from 30 to 45 
days. The Committee proposed a meeting with 
the new Minister the Hon Bill Marmion to discuss 
these and a number of other issues including the 
inability of personal injuries lawyers to charge 
for their services other than in accordance with 
the WorkCover Costs Determination. Prior to his 
elevation to the District Court Bench, Judge John 
Staude prepared a comprehensive submission in 
this regard which was supported by the Society’s 
Council.
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Quality Practice Standard Committee 
The Convenor of the QPS Committee is Craig 
Slater. In 2009/2010 the Committee monitored 
the National Legal Profession Reform project 
noting that many of the changes proposed will 
have an impact on the practices of firms in 
Western Australia; noted the further delay for the 
implementation of the Anti-Money Laundering 
and Counter-Terrorism Finance Act 2006 to the 
extent that it is proposed to affect legal practices; 
and noted the publication of a new set of 
professional conduct rules by the Legal Practice 
Board (LPB). The Committee believes the LPB 
Rules will impact on the terms of the QPS and 
office practices in due course. Depending on 
which reforms are implemented and which 
conduct rules are adopted the Committee will 
consider the impact on the QPS and the need to 
update or amend the QPS accordingly.

The Committee has sought to improve the 
availability of information on the QPS and 
accreditation process and is reviewing its 
introductory information and related materials. 

The Committee was pleased to note the 
continuing interest in the QPS by other similar 
associations and even government bodies 
considering systems not dissimilar to the QPS.  

The 15th anniversary of the implementation of the 
QPS falls in May 2011, and of the accreditation of 
its first firms, in March 2012.  In that context and 
changes that might result from new legislation/
rules, the Committee will work to update the QPS 
and related material with a view to launching the 
changes in association with ceremonies to mark 
that important milestone. 

Property Law Committee 
The Property Law Committee is convened by 
Chris Martin. In 2009/2010 it was a case of ‘it 
never rains but it pours’. On a couple of occasions 
the Committee agenda did not justify a monthly 
meeting, but for the year overall the resources of 
the Committee were tested, particularly having 
regard to the limited time typically allowed by the 
government or statutory body requesting input.

Particular projects requiring comment were 
in respect to proposed legislative changes 
to the Commercial Tenancies (Retail Shops) 
Agreements Act 1985, the Retirement Villages 
Act 1981, and the Settlement Agents Act 1981, 
the latter relating to COAG driven proposals 
impacting on the legal work settlement agents 
might be permitted to undertake.  The Committee 
continued to lobby in respect to legislation 
concerning strata title managers (particularly the 
funds passing through their hands) and selling 
agent ownership of settlement agents with their 

related potential for conflict.  The 2009 revision 
of the Joint Form of General Conditions for the 
Sale of Land continued to be monitored with the 
Committee a first port of call for practical issues 
(not many it must be said) arising out of their 
introduction.  The Committee continued to push 
for the introduction of legislation concerning what 
Landgate has called its “Business Focussed 
Amendments” (to the Transfer of Land Act 1893), 
and to the Strata Titles Act 1985. 

Other continuing projects included continuing 
membership on the WA Advisory Group of the 
National Electronic Conveyancing System 
(NECS).  During 2009 NECS secured (albeit 
conditional) funding through COAG and a 
company NECD Pty Ltd has been incorporated to 
further NECS.  The Committee’s representation 
on the advisory group has been strengthened with 
four representatives on the local stakeholder’s 
committee. 
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Taxation Committee 
The Taxation Committee is convened by John 
Hockley. It meets as a joint Committee of the 
Law Society of Western Australia and the Law 
Council of Australia. 

The Taxation Committee is represented on the 
Tax Practitioners Forum.  This is a national 
body with representatives of the Law Council 
of Australia and the Australian Taxation Office.  
Its aim is to develop improved communication 
between the legal profession and the ATO. One 
outcome of the Forum has been the signing of 
a Memorandum of Understanding between the 
ATO and the Victorian Bar in regard to members 
obtaining assistance in the areas of lodgement 
and debt issues. The Western Australian Bar 
Association has not entered into a similar 
Memorandum of Understanding. The possibility 
of extending this agreement to other areas of the 
legal profession such as the Law Society of WA 

has been raised but the ATO is not in favour of 
extending this facility to Law Society Members. 

In 2009/2010 the Committee met with the 
representatives of the ATO’s Perth Office to 
discuss problems of mutual interest and to 
develop improved communication.

In 2009/2010 the Committee made submissions 
on various State and Commonwealth taxation 
issues. During this period action on the Review 
of the State Revenue (the “Ilbery Report”) has 
been slow with recommendations for reform 
being delayed. The Committee is hopeful 
that further action and implementation of the 
recommendations may occur as the State 
Revenue position improves. 

Members of the Committee were involved in 
presenting Continuing Legal Education Seminars 
for the Law Society and members regularly write 
articles for Brief and other journals.

Young Lawyers Committee 
The YLC’s Convenor is Matthew Keogh. 
2009/2010 saw the YLC introduce a number of 
new events, namely:
• Winter Wellness series - free lunchtime 

seminars for helping members get the most 
out of their life

• Mooting Competition for young lawyers
• End of Year Drinks - building on the success 

of previous YLC End of Year Drinks functions, 
2009 saw the Society’s Christmas Drinks 
merged with the YLC’s End of Year Drinks to 
produce a very successful event

• Calendar Kick Off - event to start the 2010 
events for the YLC

• Inter-firm Beach Volleyball Competition

Other new initiatives 
in 2009/2010 were 
the introduction of 
the Young Lawyers 
News: illegitimi non 
carborundum section 
in Brief on a quarterly 
basis – being news for 
young lawyers, by young lawyers. The YLC also 
established a Human Rights & Social Justice 
Working Group, which is working with other 
Committees of the Society in promoting and 
encouraging lawyers to work in these areas.  
This now takes the YLC’s Working Groups to 
five, the others being:
• Social and Sport
• Graduate Interests
• Education and Advocacy
• Communications
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In 2009 the YLC was proud to host the inaugural 
Australian Young Lawyers Conference in Perth, 
held in conjunction with the Law Council’s 
Australian Legal Convention. Along with this, 
the YLC also hosted the National Golden Gavel 
competition and the Australian Young Lawyer of 
the Year awards; the individual category being 
won by the Convenor, Matthew Keogh.

The YLC also continued with its strong list of 
regular events throughout the year, including:
• Burgess Paluch Quiz Night
• Advocacy Practical Weekend in Mandurah
• Charity Breakfast with Chief Justice Robert 

French
• Inter-firm Netball Competition
• 10 YLC Basics Series CPD Seminars
• WA Golden Gavel Competition
• Advocacy Workshop Series
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SUBMISSIONS

2009
Criminal Proceedings in Supreme and District Court – 
New Costs Scale – Legal Costs Committee
Draft National Indigenous Law and Justice Framework 
– Indigenous Policy and Service Delivery Branch 
(Federal)
Access to Share Registers and the Regulations of 
Unsolicited Off Market Offers – Options Paper – 
Treasury (Federal)
Development of Law Council Policy on a Federal 
Charter or Bill of Rights – Submission/Position Paper 
to the Human Rights Act – National Consultation 
Committee
Review of Legal Costs Committee Legal Practitioners 
(Solicitors Costs) Determination 2007 and Legal 
Practitioners (Solicitors Non –Contentious Probate 
Costs) Determination 2007 – Legal Costs Committee
Endorsement of Legal Aid Submission on the 
Community Protection (Offender Reporting) Act 2004 
– Attorney General 
Advance Health Directives and Enduring Powers of 
Guardianship – Office of the Chief Medical Officer and 
Office of the Public Advocate
Compensation for Injurious Affection: Supporting Law 
Reform Commission of Western Australia Final Report 
– Attorney General, Minister for Lands and Minister for 
Planning
Changes to Redress Scheme – Endorsement 
of Geraldton Centre Submission – Minister for 
Community Services
Double Jeopardy Law Reform – Supporting Reform 
Model as agreed by COAG – Director General, 
Department of the Attorney General
Department of Commerce – Overview of Proposed 
Amendment to Commercial Tenancies (Retail Shops) 
Agreements Act and Regulations – Department of 
Commerce 
Duties Act 2008 – Lodgment and Payment Provisions 
– Commissioner of State Revenue
Child Exploitation Material and Classification 
Legislation Amendment Bill 2009 – Standing 
Committee on Uniform and Statutes Review – 
Legislative Council 

2009
Settlement Agents Undertaking Legal Work – National 
Licensing – Settlement Agents Supervisory Board
Department of Immigration and Citizenship Funded 
Legal Advice Scheme for Applicants seeking review of 
Refugee Review Tribunal Decisions – Department of 
Immigration and Citizenship
Legal Professional Privilege – Recommendations 
of Standing Committee on Legislation Report 14: 
Inquiry into the Jurisdiction and Operation of the State 
Administrative Tribunal – endorsement of the Legal 
Practice Board Submission – Attorney General
Draft Report on Review of the Retirement Legislation 
– Department of Commerce
Inquiry into the Professional Standards Amendment 
Bill 2009 – Standing Committee on Uniform 
Legislation and Statutes Review Committee
Legal Services Award Modernisation – Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission (Federal)
Witness Fees for Early Return Subpoenas – District 
Court
Proposal to Amend the Magistrates Court Act 2004 
(WA) to Extend an Individual Magistrate’s Tenure – 
Attorney General (CONFIDENTIAL)
Availability of Approved Medical Specialists – 
Workcover
Dispute Resolution Directorate Lack of 
Videoconferencing Facilities – Workcover
Discount Rate for Personal Injuries Claims – Attorney 
General
Report 14: Inquiry into the Jurisdiction and Operation 
of the State Administrative Tribunal and the 
Government’s Response – Attorney General
Uniform Evidence Act – Attorney General
Inquiry into Western Australian Strata Managers – 
Standing Committee on Public Administration
Proposed Changes to Practice Directions – Chief 
Justice of Western Australia
Case Finalisation Letters – Commissioner of State 
Revenue
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2010
Selection, Eligibility and Exemption of Jurors – 
Law Reform Commission
Inquiry into Working with Children (Criminal 
Record Checking) Amendment Bill 2009 – 
Standing Committee Uniform and Statutes Review
Criminal Code Amendment (Identity Crime) 
Bill 2009 – Standing Committee on Uniform 
Legislation and Statutes Review
Supreme Court Amendment Rules (No 3) – 
Supreme Court of Western Australia
Criminal Investigation Amendment Bill 2009 (Stop, 
Search and Seizure) – Standing Committee on 
Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review
Federal Court Review of Prescribed Costs in the 
Federal Court – Law Council of Australia
Suitors Fund Act 1964 – Recommendations of WA 
Law Reform Commission – Solicitor General
Unrepresented Litigants – Court of Appeals 
Registrar
Children’s Court Rules 2009 – President of the 
Children’s Court
District Court Draft Practice Direction – Video and 
Audio Links – Chief Judge of the District Court of 
Western Australia
Statutory Review of the Sentencing Act 1995 – 
Department of the Attorney General
Proposed Repeal Section 27A Motor Vehicle 
(Third Party Insurance) Act 1943 and Section 87 
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management 
Act 1981 – Minister for Transport, Minister for 
Commerce and Attorney General

2010
Court Suppression and Non-Publication Orders 
Bill 2009 – Department of the Attorney General
Review By Legal Cost Committee Of: Legal 
Practitioners (Supreme Court) (Contentious 
Business) Determination 2008; Legal Practitioners 
(District Court Appeals) (Contentious Business) 
Determination 2008; Legal Practitioners 
Magistrates Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Determination 
2008; Legal Practitioners Magistrates Court 
(Criminal Jurisdiction) Determination 2008; 
Legal Practitioners (Supreme And District Court) 
(Criminal Jurisdictions) Determination 2009 – 
Legal Costs Committee
Road Traffic Amendment Bill 2010 (Hoon 
Legislation) – Minister for Police
Proposed Amendments to Magistrates Court (Civil 
Proceedings) Rules – Chief Magistrate
Freedom of Information Review – Information 
Commissioner
Proposed Amendment to the 2005 District Court 
Rules – Principal Registrar
National Electronic Conveyancing – Non-
Regulated Subscribers – National Electronic 
Conveyancing Office (Federal)
Acts Amendment (Consent to Medical Treatment) 
Act 2008 – Advance Health Directives and 
Enduring Powers of Guardianship – Department of 
Health
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NOMINATIONS TO EXTERNAL BOARDS

• Board of National Pro Bono Resource Centre
• Strategic Criminal Justice Forum

ADDITIONAL ISSUES AND PROJECTS
• Law Society appointed as a Recognised 

Mediation Accreditation Body
• Model Mediation Rules introduced 
• Guide to Setting Up or Selling a Law Practice 

in Western Australia updated
• Survey on bullying in the legal profession 

in conjunction with Edith Cowan University 
completed

• Psychological Distress and Depression in 
the Legal Profession Ad Hoc Committee 
established

• Ethical and Practice Guidelines completed
• September 2009 revision of Joint Form of 

General Conditions for the Sale of Land 
issued

SPONSORS

• Allens Arthur Robinson 
• Bankwest
• Blake Dawson 
• Burgess Paluch Legal Recruitment 
• The College of Law 
• Department of the Attorney General
• Department of Education
• DX Solutions
• Edith Cowan University
• Freehills 
• Hays Legal
• Hudson Legal

• Interpeople
• Jackson McDonald 
• Lavan Legal
• legalsuper
• Lotterywest 
• Marsh
• Murdoch University
• Norton Rose 
• Tottle Partners 
• The University of Notre Dame Australia
• The University of Western Australia

The Society wishes to thank its list of sponsors for 2009/2010. The following organisations have 
supported Society functions, sporting events, the Francis Burt Law Education Centre, CPD learning 
events and more:

• Medical Radiation Technologists 
Registration Board of Western Australia

• WA Reproductive Technology Council

The Society nominated members to represent the profession on the following external boards and 
committees:
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Note 2010 2009
$ $

Revenue  

 Continuing Professional Development 708,126            861,993             
 Law Access 149,570            165,856             
 Law Week 44,398              -                        
 Francis Burt Law Education Centre 287,146            270,091             
 Membership & Governance 2,662,623         2,465,598          

Total Revenue 2 3,851,863         3,763,538          

Expenses
 
Continuing Professional Development (569,339) (648,624)
Law Access (150,250) (166,403)
Law Week (44,396) -                        
Francis Burt Law Education Centre (291,910) (263,449)
Membership & Governance (2,558,201) (2,216,931)

Total Expenses 2(a) (3,614,096) (3,295,407)

Surplus for the year 237,767 468,131

Total Comprehensive Income 237,767 468,131

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENISVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

 
 
 
 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 10-20. 
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Note 2010 2009

$ $

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 10 (b) 2,632,582 2,284,387   
Trade and Other Receivables 3 493,168 540,177      
Inventories 941 1,527          
Prepayments  70,124 72,157        

Total Current Assets 3,196,815       2,898,248   

Non Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment 4 281,335 329,571
Intangible Assets 5 24,154 7,120          

Total Non Current Assets 305,489 336,691

Total Assets 3,502,304 3,234,939

Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 6 462,236 531,848
Provisions 8 162,299 117,362
Income Received in Advance 673,547 617,278

Total Current Liabilities 1,298,082 1,266,488

Non Current Liabilities
Provisions 9 45,666 47,662

Total Non Current Liabilities 45,666 47,662

Total Liabilities 1,343,748 1,314,150

Net Assets 2,158,556 1,920,789

Equity
Retained Earnings 2,158,556 1,920,789
Total Equity 2,158,556 1,920,789

AS AT 30 JUNE 2010
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

 
 

 
 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 10-20. 
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2010 2009
$ $

Retained Earnings

Opening Balance 1,920,789 1,452,658

Surplus for the year 237,767 468,131

Total Comprehensive Income 237,767 468,131

Balance as at 30 June 2,158,556 1,920,789

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010
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Note 2010 2009
$ $

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from Membership Fees 1,548,518      1,082,671
Grants & other Receipts from the Society's Activities 2,974,960      2,533,639
Interest and Bill Discounts Received 109,269         136,573
Payments to Suppliers and Employees  (4,200,655) (3,744,195)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 10 (a) 432,092 8,688

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from sale of Property, Plant and Equipment 1,034             500             
Payments for Property, Plant and Equipment (61,848) (191,633)
Payments for Intangible Assets (23,083) (7,130)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (83,897) (198,263)

Net Increase/(decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 348,195 (189,575)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 2,284,387 2,473,962

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the financial year 10 (b) 2,632,582 2,284,387
 

STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes on pages 10-20. 
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements as at 30 June 2010 
 
1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

The entity is not a reporting entity because there are unlikely to exist users of the accounts who are dependent on 
general-purpose financial reports of the entity for information.  These accounts are therefore a “Special Purpose 
Financial Report”.  

 
This special purpose financial report has been prepared to satisfy the Council’s accountability requirements under 
sections 71 to 76 of the Constitution of the Law Society of Western Australia, the recognition and measurement 
requirements specified by all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and the disclosure requirements 
of Accounting Standards AASB 101, Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 107 Cash Flow Statements and 
AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

 
 

The historical cost convention has been adopted. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in 
exchange for assets.  

 
In the application of A-IFRS management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.  The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements.  Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.  
 
Judgements made by management in the application of A-IFRS that have significant effects on the financial 
statements and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where 
applicable, in the relevant notes to the financial statements.  
 
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information 
satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions 
or other events is reported.  

 
The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial 
report:  

 
(a)   Recoverable Amount of Non Current Assets 
 
Non-current assets are written down to recoverable amount where the carrying value of any non- current asset 
exceeds recoverable amount.  In determining the recoverable amount of non-current assets, the expected net cash 
flows have not been discounted to their present value. 
 
(b)   Depreciation & Amortisation 

 
Depreciation of non current assets other than freehold land is calculated on a straight line basis which takes 
account of the remaining useful life of the relevant assets and their estimated residual value.  The following 
estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 
 
• Leasehold Improvements     the lesser of 10 years or the lease term  
• Plant & Equipment               4-11 years 
 
Amortisation of Intangible Assets relates to Trademarks which have a useful life of 10 years. 
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Notes Continued . . . . 
(c)   Income Tax 

 
Income Tax expense is not attributable to the Society’s income due to an exemption granted under section 50-5 of 
the Income Tax Assessment Act (1997). 
 

 (d)   Employee Benefits 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages, annual leave and long service leave 
and when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably. 

Provisions made in respect of wages, annual leave and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 
months, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of 
settlement. 

 
Provisions for employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the 
present value of the estimated future cashflows in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting 
date. 
 

 (e)   Receivables 

 Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due less any allowance for doubtful debts. 
 
 (f)   Accounts Payable 

 Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Law Society becomes obliged to make future 
payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services. 

 
 (g) Bad Debts 

 All debts written off as bad debts are authorised by the Council of the Law Society. 
 
 (h) Goods & Services Tax 

 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) except for 
receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 
The gross amount of GST recoverable from and payable to the Australian Taxation Office are included in 
notes 3 and 6 respectively. 
 
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
is classified as operating cash flows. 
 
(i) Revenue Recognition 
 
Membership fees attributable to the year ended 30 June 2010 are recognised as income in the current 
reporting period. 
 
Interest revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
 
Income from other services is recognised in the period in which the service is provided. 
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Notes Continued . . . . 
 
(j) Contributions  
Grants are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for which they are 
intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.  During the period the following grants were recognized as 
revenue: 
 
PPT Grant - Law Access    $144,404  
PPT Grant - Francis Burt Law Education Centre $160,000    
PPT Grant - Law Week      $  31,834 
Education Department Grant – FBLEC   $  77,700 
 
No future commitments have been recognised as any unspent funds have been refunded to the grantors. 
           
(k) Lease Incentives 

 
Lease incentives received from entering into non-cancellable operating leases are recognised as a liability. Lease 
payments are allocated between rental expense and the reduction in the liability. The Society’s lease expired 
during 2008/2009 and the lease incentive has now been reduced to nil. 
 
(l)   Law Mutual WA 

 
In order for the Law Society to meet the obligations imposed by the “Legal Practitioner’s (Professional Indemnity 
Insurance) Regulations 1995” to arrange Professional Indemnity Insurance for all legal practitioners in Western 
Australia, a Mutual Provident Fund was established on 1 July 1995 operating under the registered business name 
“Law Mutual WA”.  The scheme is managed by the Law Society and is a trust of which the Law Society is 
Trustee.  The assets, liabilities and results of Law Mutual WA are not included in the financial statements of the 
Law Society. 
 
As, Law Mutual WA is a separate trust and is not restricted to those practitioners who are members of the Law 
Society, separate financial statements are prepared for Law Mutual WA. 
  
(m) Operating Leases 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a basis which reflects the pattern in which the 
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 
 

 (n) Provisions 
   

Provisions are recognised when the Society has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the Society will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cashflows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cashflows. When some or all of the economic benefits 
required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an 
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be 
measured reliably 

 
  (o) Inventories 
    
  Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value 
 
 (p) Intangible assets  
Intangible assets balances relate to Trademarks and are recorded at cost.  These trademark applications have now 
been registered and have been amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.  
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Notes Continued . . . . 
 

(q) Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 
In the current year, the Society has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current 
annual reporting period.  The following Standards and Interpretations were adopted:  
- AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised September 2007), AASB2007-8 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101  
- AASB 2007-10 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101  
 
The adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial position or performance 
of the Society.   
 
The Society has not elected to early adopt the new standards or amendments listed below.  

 
Standards and Interpretations issued not yet effective   
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, a number of Standards and Interpretations were in 
issue but not yet effective. 

Standard 

 Effective for 
annual reporting 

periods beginning 
on or after 

Expected to be 
initially applied in 
the financial year 

ending 

• AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (2009), AASB 2009-12 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards 1 January 2011 30 June 2011 

• AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 

1 January 2013 
 

30 June 2013 
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Notes Continued . . . . 
 

 
2           Revenue from operations consisted of the following items:

2010 2009
$ $

           Members Subscriptions  1,524,940     1,463,763        
           Administration Fees 197,400        193,115           
           Fees Received from Law Mutual 174,700        142,454           
           Interest 117,547        133,441           
           Seminars, Papers, Accreditation 670,501        809,633           
           Grants - Law Society Public Purposes Trust 336,238        242,185           
           Grants - Other 77,700          77,100             
           Quality Practice Scheme 48,730          44,448             
            Membership Services 114,865        125,102           
            Distributions from the Legal Contribution Trust 203,500        208,200           
            Sponsorship Arrangements 47,125          48,617             
            Diary Sales & Advertising 63,561          72,591             
            Other Revenue 275,056        202,890           
 

3,851,863 3,763,538        

2(a)     Surplus for the year has been arrived at after charging the following expenses
 
           Auditor's  Remuneration 20,375          22,950             
           Depreciation & Amortisation 113,900        86,250             
           Law Council Levy 224,240        207,316           
           Loss on Disposal of Non Current Assets 1,196            6,216               
           Meetings - AGM, Council, Committees etc. 56,923          54,688             
           Publications 35,753          36,591             
           Presidents Allowance 95,375          81,206             
           Quality Practice Scheme 28,578          28,792             
           Employee Benefits 1,878,815     1,769,357        
           Occupancy Expenses 295,919        196,605
           Printing, Postage & Stationery 68,798          79,814             
           Other Overheads 794,224        725,623           

3,614,096 3,295,407        
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Notes Continued . . .  
3.          CURRENT TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 2010 2009

$ $
             Accrued Income 19,047 10,196
             Trade receivables 398,891 453,433
             GST receivable 56,496 66,093
             Interest receivable 18,734 10,455

493,168        540,177           

4.          PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT

 Leasehold Plant &
Improvements Equipment Total Assets

at cost at cost at cost

Gross Carrying Amount
Balance as at 1/7/08 295,708         295,372        591,080           
Additions -                 191,642        191,642           
Disposals (13,543)
Balance as at 1/7/09 295,708         473,471        769,179           
Additions -                 61,751          61,751             
Disposals (73,791) (73,791)
Balance 30/6/10 295,708         461,431        757,139           

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 1/7/08 (179,299) (180,884) (360,183)
Depreciation Expense (29,652) (56,598) (86,250)
Disposals 6,825            
Balance as at 1/7/09 (208,951) (230,657) (439,608)
Depreciation Expense (29,571) (78,280) (107,851)
Disposals 71,655 71,655

Balance 30/6/10 (238,522) (237,282) (475,804)

Net Book Value as at 30/6/10 57,186           224,149        281,335            
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Notes Continued . . . . 
 
5.          INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible Assets relate to Trademarks which have been registered during 2009/2010.  The Trademarks have 
been amortised over the life of the Trademarks which is 10 years.

 
Trademarks

at cost

Gross Carrying Amount
Balance as at 1/7/08 -               
Additions 7,120            
Disposals -               
Balance as at 1/7/09 7,120            
Additions 23,083          
Disposals -               
Balance 30/6/10 30,203          

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 1/7/08 -               
Depreciation Expense -               
Disposals -               
Balance as at 1/7/09 -               
Depreciation Expense (6,049)
Disposals -               
Balance 30/6/10 (6,049)

Net Book Value as at 30/6/10 24,154          

2010 2009
$ $

6.          TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
             Trade payables & accrued expenses 169,590        237,737           
             Grants received but not yet expended:
             -  Francis Burt Law Centre  64,582          64,582             
             GST payable 228,064        229,529           
             Young Lawyers -                   -                       

462,236        531,848           

7.          REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
             Auditing Services - Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 20,375          22,950             
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Notes Continued . . . . 
 
 

 
8.          PROVISIONS - CURRENT
             Employee Benefits
              - Annual Leave 133,416        100,456           
              - Long Service Leave 28,883          16,906             

162,299 117,362           

9.          PROVISIONS - NON CURRENT
             -  Employee Benefits 
              - Long Service Leave 45,666          47,662             

            Number of FTE employees at the end of the financial year 22                 21                    

2010 2009
10.        NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT $ $

             (a) Reconciliation of Surplus from Ordinary Activities to Net
                   Cash Flows from Operating Activities

             Surplus from ordinary activities 237,767        468,131           

             Depreciation of Non Current Assets 107,851        86,250             
             Amortisation of Intangible Assets 6,049            -                       
             Loss on disposal of Non Current Assets 1,196            6,216.00          

             Changes in Net Assets and Liabilities
             (Increase)/Decrease in Assets
             Current receivables 47,010 (205,860)
             Inventories 586 (518)
             Other current Assets 2,033 (27,028)
             Increase/(Decrease) in Liabilities
             Payables 103,854 80,705             
             Subscriptions in Advance (117,196) (441,622)
             Current provisions 44,937          37,887             
             Non current Liabilities (1,995) 4,526               

             Net cash from operating activities 432,092        8,688               
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Notes Continued . . . . 
 
 
            (b) Reconciliation of Cash and cash equivalents

             For the purpose of the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes cash on hand, and in banks
             and investments in money market instruments.  Cash at the end of the financial year
             as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement
             of financial position as follows:

             Cash at Bank & Deposits at Call 576,689        391,060           
             Commercial Bills  2,055,893     1,893,327        

2,632,582     2,284,387        
 

 
11. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 

The people who were members of the Council of the Law Society at any time during the financial year were: 
Members who served 
1 Jan 2010 to 30 June 2010 

Members who served 
1 July 2009 to 31 Dec 2009 

  
Dudley Stow 
Hylton Quail 
Simon Watters 
Judith Fordham 
Pamela Hass 
Christopher Kendall 
Greg McIntyre SC 
Denis McLeod 
Konrad De Kerloy 
Steven Penglis 
John Prior 
Belinda Lonsdale 
Shane Sirett 
Craig Slater 
John Staude 
Carmel McKenzie 
Graham Goerke 
Dr Eric Heenan 
Matthew Keogh 
Elaine Wambeck 
 

Dudley Stow 
Hylton Quail 
Simon Watters 
Judith Fordham 
Pamela Hass 
Christopher Kendall 
Greg McIntyre SC 
Denis McLeod 
Rhonda Parks 
Steven Penglis 
John Prior 
Michelle Quigley 
Shane Sirett 
Craig Slater 
John Staude 
Carmel McKenzie 
Haley Allan 
Jeremy Sher 
Maria Saraceni 
Gabrielle Clarke 
 

  
Transactions between the Law Society and Councillor Related Entities 

 
Other than the President who receives a presidential honorarium, no member of Council receives directly or 
indirectly any fees, bonuses or other remuneration. The total honorarium paid in 2009/2010 was $95,375 
inclusive of 9% superannuation. (2009:$81,205).   
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Notes Continued . . . . 
  
11. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONT) 
 

During the financial year transactions primarily for legal services were undertaken between the Law Society of 
Western Australia and firms of which Councillors are partners, consultants or employees. Such transactions were 
undertaken in the normal course of business and were made on normal commercial terms and conditions. 
 
There were no amounts paid to firms of which Councillors were partners during the reporting period. 
 
The Society also received fees from firms of which Council members are partners, employees and consultants.  
The fees were received from all parties under the same terms and conditions, as follows: 
 - registration fees for CPD events 
 - fees for membership services, eg.  Law Society diary 
 - social events 

 
 Transactions between the Law Society and Law Mutual WA 
 
 During the year, the Society received fees from Law Mutual for administration, consulting and management 

services on normal commercial terms and conditions amounting to $174,700 (2009: $142,454). 
 
 At 30 June 2010, Law Mutual owed the Law Society $85,726 (2009: $176,542). 
 
 Transactions between the Law Society and the Law Society Public Purposes Trust 
 
 During the financial year, the Law Society was paid grants from the Law Society’s Public Purposes Trust for the 

following purposes: 
 
   Law Access $144,404   (2009: $102,185) 
   Francis Burt Law Education Centre $160,000   (2009: $140,000) 
   Law Week   $31,834         (2009: $nil) 
   (note Law Week was postponed in 2008/2009) 
 
 
 At 30 June 2010, the Public Purposes Trust owed monies totalling $35,017 to the Law Society of Western 

Australia (2009: $nil). 
 
 The Society received fees from the Public Purposes Trust for administration, consulting and management services 

on normal commercial terms and conditions amounting to $128,800 (2009: $125,698). 
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Notes Continued . . . . 
   
12. COMMITMENTS 
 
   Operating Leases – Office Space 
 The Law Society’s lease for office space at 89 St Georges Terrace Perth (for a seven year period) became due for 

renewal in April 2009. An option to extend the lease for three years was taken up with a market review 
undertaken.  The Society’s commitments over the three year period are as follows: 

 
                2010           2009 
      Minimum Future Minimum Future 
      Lease Payments  Lease Payments 
       $    $ 

  No later than 1 year            298,567               295,213      
   Longer than 1 year and not                                

    longer than five years            251,740           550,307 
 Longer than 5 years            -             -                
 
              550,307                   845,520    
      _____________ ______               _______ 
 
 
 
   Operating Leases – Office Equipment 

The Law Society entered into a lease in May 2008 for photocopiers for a term of four years.   
 

                2010           2009 
      Minimum Future Minimum Future 
      Lease Payments  Lease Payments 
       $    $ 

  No later than 1 year            14,520           14,520              
   Longer than 1 year and not            13,310           27,830             

    longer than five years 
 Longer than 5 years                -                -   
 
               27,830           42,350   
      _____________ _________              ____ 
 
 
13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
 There were no events subsequent to 30 June 2010 that have significantly affected or may significantly affect 

the operation of the Law Society. 
 

14.        PRINCIPAL ADMINISTRATION OFFICE 
 
 Law Society of Western Australia (Inc.) 
 4th Floor 
 89 St Georges Terrace 
 PERTH   WA   6000 
 Telephone:  (08) 9322 7877 
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